THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-05-00124
Appellate Case No. 2015-002493

RECEIVED
JUN 14 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Polly McGill and Mary Broxton, as Co- Personal Representatives of
the Estate of Virginia Butler, deceased, Plaintiffs

Of Whom Polly McGill, as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Virginia Butler is the Respondent,

v.

The Regional Medical Center Foundation d/b/a The Regional Medical
Center and Pruitt Health-Bamberg, LLC d/b/a Uni-Health Post Acute
Care of Bamberg, LLC, Defendants,

Of Whom Pruitt Health-Bamberg, LLC d/b/a Uni-Health Post Acute

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- II. Did the trial court err in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration?
 - a. The trial court erred in concluding that the Respondents cannot be bound by the arbitration agreement under the Adult Health Care Consent Act.
 - b. The trial court erred in finding that the Respondents are not bound by the agreement under the common law doctrines of equitable estoppel and third-party beneficiary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a wrongful death and survival lawsuit filed on June 15, 2015 by Polly McGill and Mary Broxton (hereinafter “Respondents”), as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Virginia Butler. (R. pp. 32-38). Respondents sued The Regional Medical Center Foundation d/b/a The Regional Medical Center (hereinafter “TRMC”) and Pruitt Health-Bamberg, LLC d/b/a Unihealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC (hereinafter “UPAC-Bamberg” or “the facility”).

As alleged in the Complaint, the Decedent, Virginia Butler, was admitted to TRMC on January 17, 2014 with general weakness and was diagnosed with anemia. (R. p. 34, ¶ 9). Ms. Butler was treated at TRMC until being released home on January 22, 2014. (R. p. 34, ¶ 9). Three days later, on January 25, 2014, Ms. Butler suffered a fall and was readmitted to TRMC, where she was diagnosed with a fractured femur. (R. p. 34, ¶ 10). Ms. Butler remained at TRMC until January 31, 2014, but no surgery was performed during this time as she was determined to be a poor candidate. (R. p. 34, ¶ 11; R. p. 35, ¶ 15). Respondents allege that during this stay at TRMC, decedent developed a stage III pressure ulcer on her right lower leg, which progressed to a stage 4 pressure ulcer. (R. p. 34, ¶ 13). The Respondents allege the development/progression of this sore was the result of negligence on the part of defendant TRMC. *Id.*

Upon discharge from TRMC, Ms. Butler was admitted to UPAC-Bamberg. (R. p. 35, ¶ 15). On February 7, 2014, Ms. Butler was sent to Colleton Medical Center (hereinafter “CMC”) for wound treatment, before returning to UPAC-Bamberg that same day. (R. p. 35, ¶ 16). On February 14, 2014, Ms. Butler returned to the Wound Clinic at CMC. (R. p. 35, ¶ 20). After being examined in the Wound Clinic, she was admitted to CMC, where she passed away on February 17, 2014. (R. p. 35, ¶¶ 21-22). The Respondents allege that UPAC-Bamberg allowed the

decedent's "pressure ulcers [to] progress[] to [a] stage 4 category due to the failure of the nurses and employees of PruittHealth-Bamberg to comply with the nationally recognizable standard of care." (R. p. 35, ¶ 18). They allege these failures caused Ms. Butler's death.

Ms. Butler entered UPAC-Bamberg rehabilitation facility on or about January 31, 2014.¹ Prior to her admission, Mary Robinson, as Ms. Butler's niece and representative, executed various documents related to her admission to UPAC-Bamberg, including an Admission Packet containing an arbitration agreement. (R. pp. 61-78). Although Ms. Butler had no power of attorney, these documents were executed by Ms. Robinson as the representative of Ms. Butler. During her stay at the facility, Ms. Butler accepted the benefits of the contracts entered into on her behalf by her representative, Mr. Butler, including her admission to the facility and the receipt of skilled nursing care. At the time of her admission, Ms. Butler was suffering from dementia. (R. pp. 80-91).

Respondents McGill and Broxton, as Co-Personal Representative of the Estate of Virginia, commenced this action by filing a Notice of Intent to Sue on April 6, 2015 (R. pp. 11-31). Respondents filed their Summons and Complaint against the Defendants on June 15, 2015. (R. pp. 32-46). On July 15, 2015, UPAC-Bamberg filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 47-48). By Order dated September 30, 2015 and filed October 5, 2015, the trial court denied the Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration for the reasons addressed within this appeal. (R. pp. 1-9). The Appellant timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the denial of the motion. (R. pp. 117-125). By Order dated November 4, 2015 and filed November 9, 2015, the trial court denied

¹ Ms. Butler was previously a resident of the facility in September 2012, but there are no allegations in the Respondents' Complaint regarding that stay. However, the admissions documents completed in both instances included arbitration agreements, and the agreement for Ms. Butler's September 2012 admission was signed by Respondent Polly McGill.

the Motion to Reconsider and affirmed its denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration.² (R. p. 10). The Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals on December 4, 2015 and with the Bamberg County Circuit Court on December 7, 2015. The Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on all counsel in this action on December 4, 2015. This appeal followed.

² The trial court reconsidered and abandoned Footnote 2 of its original Order, but otherwise denied UPAC-Bamberg's Motion to Reconsider in its entirety.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination unless the parties provide otherwise. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). This determination is subject to de novo review. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). Nevertheless, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings. *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007); *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 286, 733 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct. App. 2012). Both federal and state policy favor arbitrating disputes. *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 537, 471 S.E.2d 135, 136 (1995) (“The policy of the United States and this State is to favor arbitration of disputes.”); *Cox v. Woodmen of World Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. 460, 464, 556 S.E.2d 397, 399 (Ct. App. 2001) (“There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements because of the strong policy favoring arbitration.”). Therefore, all doubts regarding the scope of arbitrable issues must be resolved in favor of arbitration. *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Servs., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 544, 550, 606 S.E.2d 752, 755 (2004).

LAW/ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Appellant, UPAC-Bamberg, asserts that the trial court erred in denying its Motion to Compel Arbitration. The Appellant notes the recent decision by the Court of Appeals, *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, Op. No. 5384 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 2, 2016), would be adverse precedent with regard to most of the issues in this appeal. At the time of this filing, however, a Petition for Rehearing of the *Thompson* decision is currently pending before the Court of Appeals.

a. The trial court erred in concluding that the Respondents cannot be bound by the arbitration agreement under the Adult Health Care Consent Act.

The trial court ruled that the Respondents could not be bound by the arbitration agreement under the Adult Health Care Consent Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-10 *et. seq.* (2002)) (“the Act”). In reaching this decision, the court relied on the Supreme Court opinion in *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014). Because this decision does not preclude a party from establishing the validity of an arbitration agreement under the Act through common law principles, the trial court erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Under the Act, where an adult is “unable to appreciate the nature and implications of [her] condition and proposed health care, to make a reasoned decision concerning the proposed health care, or to communicate that decision in an unambiguous manner,” certain individuals, including the patient’s adult children, may consent on behalf of an incapacitated patient. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-20(8); 44-66-30(A) (2002). *See also Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 351, 755 S.E.2d at 453. In the instant case, the evidence revealed that Ms. Butler suffered from dementia prior to her death. (R. pp. 80-89).

Because Ms. Butler lacked a power of attorney, was unmarried, and had no children or siblings, it is uncontroverted that no individual had greater statutory authority under the Act than Ms. Robinson for making decisions on Ms. Butler's behalf. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A) (2002). The Act sets forth a hierarchy of individuals who "may make healthcare decisions for [a] patient who is unable to consent." *Id.* One of the individuals authorized to make healthcare decisions under this portion of the Act is "any other relative by blood or marriage who reasonably is believed by the health care professional to have a close personal relationship with the plaintiff." *Id.* In the instant case, Ms. Butler was unmarried at the time of her treatment and lacked an attorney-in-fact or guardian to make decisions on her behalf. (R. p. 91) (showing that decedent had no surviving spouse). As is clear through her admissions documents and her other medical records, Ms. Butler's nieces were the relatives with whom she had the closest personal relationship. (R. pp. 80-89; R. p. 93) (listing all nieces as "responsible parties"). Therefore, Ms. Robinson was empowered under the Act to make decisions on behalf of Ms. Butler. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A) (2002). Thus, the Act conferred authority on Ms. Robinson to make decisions concerning Ms. Butler's healthcare.

The trial court held that Ms. Robinson could not bind Ms. Butler pursuant to the arbitration agreement because under the Adult Healthcare Consent Act the arbitration agreement is not a healthcare document. (R. pp. 1-9) (citing *Coleman*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450). Under the common law doctrine of merger,³ however:

³ In *Coleman*, the Supreme Court discusses the doctrine of merger under the heading "Estoppel." 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Presumably this is because the appellants in that case titled their merger argument as such. As the Court in *Coleman* implicitly recognized in discussing the "common law doctrine of merger" and enumerating its requirements, merger is a legal doctrine separate from estoppel. *See also* 17A Am. Jur. 2d *Contracts* § 379 (2004) (noting that merger of documents means that they are considered "in the eyes of the law, one contract or instrument" and are "transaction[s] constituting a contract"). Arbitration agreements must be construed in

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that *the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract*.

Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (citing *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977)) (emphasis added).

In *Coleman*, the Supreme Court refused to construe the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement as a single document. The Supreme Court specifically held that the documents were “executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.” *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. However, the Court also found that an anti-merger clause in the admission agreement demonstrated an intention by the parties that the documents not merge. *Id.* Therefore, the documents were to be construed separately and the arbitration agreement could not fall within the Act. *Id.*; *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24 (holding that documents executed at the same time by the same parties for the same purpose and in the course of the same transaction merge but only “in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention”).

In the instant case, the agreements exhibit no such anti-merger clause. In *Coleman*, the anti-merger clause noted by the Supreme Court read:

This Agreement, including all Exhibits hereto, *and the Arbitration Agreement* between the Facility and the Resident, if the parties sign one, supersede all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the parties, and contain all of the promises and agreements between the parties. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, or promises have been made

accordance with the general principals of contract law and agency law that would apply to any other contract. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 387 S.C. 525, 531, 693 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2010), *vacated sub nom. Sonic Automotive, Inc.*, 563 U.S. 971, 131 S.Ct. 2872, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1184 (2011), *reinstated*, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011). To the extent the Court disagrees with this interpretation, the Appellant would incorporate the arguments in this section in its argument on estoppel, *infra*, by reference.

by any party or anyone acting on behalf of any party, that are not contained in this Agreement or in the Arbitration Agreement. This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement signed on behalf of [...]

407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added). The Court noted that this clause demonstrated the “separatedness” of the documents on its face. *Id.* The documents executed by Ms. Robinson not only lack an anti-merger clause, but affirmatively indicate an intention that all the documents, including the arbitration agreement, be construed as one.

In the instant case, there is no anti-merger clause as in *Coleman*, and the admissions agreement indicates no intention that the arbitration agreement be treated separately from the other documents which are part of the admissions packet. In fact, the documents to be signed by the patient or representative entering UPAC-Bamberg are all labeled “Admission Packet-South Carolina Healthcare Centers” at the bottom of each page, demonstrating that the parties consider all documents signed by the patient or representative to be part of the same agreement. (R. pp. 61-78; R. pp. 126-131).

Similarly, the admission agreement for the facility contains the following language:

- I. This Agreement shall be construed, governed and enforced under the laws of the State of South Carolina. This Agreement *together with all exhibits* is the exclusive statement of the terms and conditions between the parties with respect to the matters set forth herein, and supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations, representations, tender documents, and proposals, written and oral with respect to the subject matter hereof. Variance from, or additions to, the terms and conditions of this Agreement in any written notification from Patient/Resident shall be of no effect.

(R. p. 69) (emphasis added). By its plain language, the admission agreement treats the other signed documents as exhibits which are part of the admission contract, and this language is reinforced by the language on each page stating the documents are all part of the Admission Packet for UPAC-Bamberg.

Because all these documents were executed at the same time (January 31, 2014), by the same parties (UPAC-Bamberg and Mary Robinson on behalf of Virginia Butler), for the same purpose (for her admission and care at the facility), and during the course of the same transaction, the documents merged and the arbitration agreement is valid as a part of the Admission Packet, which Ms. Robinson had the authority to sign on behalf of her aunt under the Act. Unlike in *Coleman*, there is no anti-merger clause in this case. Therefore, the arbitration agreement joined with the other portions of the Admission Packet to form a single contract, and the trial court erred in denying the defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

The trial court held that in addition to the language in the Admission Packet, that the agreements also evidenced an intent not to merge because the arbitration agreement portion of the packet was voluntary and included a thirty (30) day revocability period. The trial court focused on the *Coleman* court's brief mention of the arbitration agreement's thirty (30) day disclaimer. However, the "anti-merger" language that the Supreme Court found compelling in *Coleman* is not present in this case. Prior to the one sentence discussion of the disclaimer, the Supreme Court already noted that the admission agreement "[o]n its face . . . recognizes the 'separatedness' of the AA and the admission agreement." *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. The disclaimer language is merely presented as additional evidence, where the intent of the parties was already evident. Thus, the mere existence of language allowing a party to disclaim an arbitration agreement within thirty (30) days of execution is not, standing on its own, sufficient evidence of contrary intent to defeat merger.

This is especially true in the instant case. As an initial matter, to say that the revocability of the arbitration agreement in the admissions documents makes it fundamentally different than, and therefore separate from, the admissions agreement and its exhibits is logically inaccurate. The

admissions agreement portion of the Admission Packet is just as capable of revocation, as Ms. Butler could have left the facility at any time or been moved to a different facility by Ms. Robinson, as her representative. Further, a patient being admitted to the facility is able to make a number of elections regarding her care at the facility as part of her admissions paperwork. See, e.g., (R. pp. 126-131) (containing a small portion of the elections a new patient or her representative make upon admission to the facility). This is no different from the ability of the patient to opt in or out of arbitration as part of the Admission Packet.

Additionally, just as the arbitration agreement was capable of revocation within 30 days, this same right was provided to Ms. Butler with regard to other portions of the Admission Packet. (R. p. 69). The admissions agreement portion of the Admission Packet expressly includes the right of the facility and the patient/patient's representative to modify the terms of the agreement. This can be done by the consent of the parties, and the patient/representative also maintains the ability to reject within thirty (30) days any changes to the admissions agreement offered by the facility. *Id.* In fact, this thirty (30) day time period for changes to the agreement is utilized throughout the admission agreement. *Id.* Thus, nothing about the voluntariness of the arbitration agreement or the thirty (30) day time period for revocation sets the arbitration agreement it apart or distinguishes it from the remaining provisions of the Admissions Packet.

There is no material difference between the arbitration agreement and the other documents executed as part of Ms. Butler's admission to the facility. Therefore, there is nothing in the Admission Packet that evidences an intent that the arbitration agreement be separate from the other agreements, and the trial court erred in denying the defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Finally, the trial court found that there could be no merger because the agreements were not between the same parties and for the same purpose. This was error. While the court held that the admission agreement was only between Ms. Butler and UPAC-Bamberg, while the arbitration agreement was between Ms. Butler, the UPAC-Bamberg, and Ms. Robinson, this conclusion is not borne out by the language of the contracts. On the first page, the admission agreement states that it is “made and entered into this 31st day of January, year 2014, by and between UniHealth PAC Bamberg (Healthcare Center), Virginia Butler (Patient/Resident), *and certain other undersigned parties.*” (R. p. 61) (emphasis added). The agreement goes on to make it clear that these undersigned parties are the patient’s representative(s) who sign the agreement. (R. pp. 62-63) (setting forth the responsibilities of the patient and/or her representative). Ms. Robinson signed this agreement and, therefore, is bound by the agreement. Thus, both agreements involve the same parties.

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