8

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-05-00124
Appellate Case No. 2015-002493

RECEIVED
AUG 05 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Polly McGill and Mary Broxton as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Virginia Butler, deceased,
Plaintiffs,

Of whom Polly McGill, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Virginia Butler, is the Respondent,

v.

The Regional Medical Center Foundation d/b/a The Regional Medical Center and Pruitt Health-Bamberg,
LLC d/b/a Uni-Health Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, Defendants,

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

ARGUMENT

This appeal turns on whether the estate of a mentally compromised nursing home resident may be required to arbitrate personal injury claims against the nursing home when the resident did not assent to arbitration or authorize anyone else to assent on her behalf. Appellant argues that a relative's signature on an Arbitration Agreement binds the estate under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act or the contract doctrine of equitable estoppel. In a unanimous opinion issued earlier this year, this Court rejected these same arguments in an appeal brought by Appellant's sister facility on precisely the same Arbitration Agreement. Thompson v. Pruitt Corp., Op. No. 5384 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 2, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 9 at 34). The Court held that Appellant's Arbitration Agreement "did not require the type of decision for which the Act confers authority on a surrogate." Id. at 41. Also, "the doctrine of equitable

estoppel does not apply to [the decedent's] estate under either South Carolina law or federal substantive law." Id. at 45.

Appellant's brief acknowledges Thompson as adverse precedent (Appellant's Br. at 6) and does not offer any reason why the Court should reverse course so quickly on functionally identical facts. In fact, most of Appellant's brief simply recycles arguments the Court recently rejected. Rather than attempting to distinguish Thompson, Appellant simply notes that it petitioned the Court to rehear the case. Appellant's Br. at 6. That petition has now been denied,² this appeal is fully consumed by Thompson, and the circuit court's ruling should be affirmed.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION.

The circuit court's ruling should be affirmed for three reasons. First, the Adult Health Care Consent Act ("the Act") is narrowly tailored to address health care decisions and related financial matters. The Act does not apply to dispute resolution matters governed by a separate, independent document. Second, the Court should not consider Appellant's third-party beneficiary argument because it was not raised to or ruled on by the circuit court. Plus, on the merits, Ms. Butler is not a third-party beneficiary to any purported contract between Ms. Robinson and Appellant. Third, Respondent is not equitably estopped from refusing to arbitrate under either South Carolina or federal law.

A. The Adult Health Care Consent Act does not apply to the Arbitration Agreement.

The Act does not apply to a free-standing nursing home arbitration contract and the circuit court properly concluded Respondents are not bound to the Arbitration Agreement under the Act's provisions. The Act's primary purpose is to identify and authorize individuals to make

² Thompson v. Pruitt Corp., S.C. Ct. App. Order dated Apr. 21, 2016.

“decisions concerning . . . health care” on behalf of a person “unable to consent” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A). The Act intends “to insure that the patient’s wishes **concerning her medical treatment** are honored whenever possible.” Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., 407 S.C. 346, 353, 755 S.E.2d 450, 454 (2014) (emphasis added). The Act establishes the order of priority for those individuals authorized to make health care decisions. The first level of decision-making priority, pursuant to the Act, is granted to a legally-appointed guardian and an attorney-in-fact empowered pursuant to a duly executed durable power of attorney. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A). An incapacitated individual’s nieces, such as Ms. Robinson, are seventh in priority. Id.

The Act expressly limits the decision-making power of any individual to only “health care” decisions. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A). “Health care” is defined in the Act and the South Carolina Supreme Court recently construed the definition to limit an individual’s decision-making authority to: (1) “provision or withholding of medical care including placement in a facility which provides such care;” and (2) “certain financial decisions . . . to pay for services rendered.” Coleman, 407 S.C. at 352, 755 S.E.2d at 453. An individual’s power under the Act applies “primarily to traditional health care decisions” and only “secondarily” to financial matters related to those decisions. Id. at 353, 755 S.E.2d at 454.

The Act grants only limited decision-making power related to nursing home admission. An individual authorized by the Act may enter an agreement to admit a resident to a nursing home and may enter a contract agreeing to pay for nursing home services. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 353-54, 755 S.E.2d at 454. A potential resident or her family are typically presented with multiple contracts and other documents when the family contemplates admitting their loved one to a nursing home. Coleman demonstrates that the Act does not apply to all documents associated with nursing home admission. Specifically, the Act does not apply if a document “was

not required for [the resident's] admission, contained no provision for medical, nursing, or health care services to be provided for [the resident], and did not require any financial commitment to pay for such services." Id. at 353, 755 S.E.2d at 454. Based on the Coleman standard, the Act does not apply to the Arbitration Agreement. The Arbitration Agreement does not contain any provision for medical, nursing, or health care services. The bolded and underlined language in Section I indicates that its provisions are intended only for dispute resolution. (R. p. 74). Only the scope of arbitrable disputes and procedures for an arbitration hearing are included in the Arbitration Agreement. See Thompson, Op. No. 5384 (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 9 at 39), (holding that since "the Arbitration Agreement does not deal with healthcare decisions, the provisions of the Act do not apply").

Appellant argues the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the Act because the Arbitration Agreement merges with the Admission Agreement, a contract that covers "health care" decisions. Appellants' Br. at 7-9. The Coleman Court acknowledged South Carolina law indicating contracts signed at the same time by the same parties and for the same purpose may be construed together "in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention." 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (quoting Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977)). Coleman refused to apply the merger doctrine because the admission agreement contained language "indicating a contrary intention." The Court found that language in the contracts "recognize[d] the 'separateness' of the admission and arbitration agreements." 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

The Arbitration Agreement Appellant drafted includes one of the exact provisions cited in Coleman—i.e. provision granting Ms. Butler a thirty-day period to unilaterally disclaim arbitration without affecting her residency status. (R. p. 78). Appellants' brief does not deny their

Arbitration Agreement includes the precise provision identified in Coleman. Instead, Appellant argues the disclaimer provision was inessential to the holding in Coleman and should not have been considered for the merger issue here. Appellants misinterpret Coleman. The merger “theory” is disproved by “anything indicating a contrary intention.” Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. A disclaimer provision like the one Appellant drafted and Coleman discussed “evidenc[ed] an intention. that each contract remain separate.” Id. Thus, on its own, the disclaimer provision is sufficient to defeat Appellants’ merger argument.⁴

Plus, there are multiple terms in the Arbitration Agreement demonstrating the parties’ intent that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreements are not to be considered a single contract. In addition to the thirty-day disclaimer provision cited in Coleman and Thompson, the Arbitration Agreement acknowledges that agreeing to its terms is “voluntary,” i.e. not a prerequisite to admission. (R. p. 74). This same sentiment is expressly stated later in the Arbitration Agreement. Signing the Arbitration Agreement “is not a precondition to admission, expedited admission, or the furnishing of services to the Patient/Resident by the Healthcare Center.” (R. p. 78 subsection (B)). The Arbitration Agreement was intended to be a separate contract from the Admission Agreement and, just as in Coleman and Thompson, the presumption of merger is overcome by the contracts’ contrary intent. Klutts Resort Realty, Inc., 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24.

⁴ Along with its efforts to minimize the disclaimer provision’s effect on Coleman’s merger holding, Appellant also argues Coleman erred in finding the disclaimer demonstrated an intent for the contracts not to merge. Appellant’s Br. at 11. Appellant suggests Ms. Butler could also disclaim the Admission Agreement by walking away from Appellant’s facility. This is another argument specifically rejected in Thompson, at 40. While it is true Ms. Butler could choose to leave Appellant’s facility, the Arbitration Agreement was different because it permitted Ms. Butler to choose not to arbitrate without affecting her residency status. This provision was clear proof Appellant did not intend to link the two agreements.

Appellant's merger argument also relies on the Admission Agreement's incorporation of "exhibits" and asserts that the Arbitration Agreement is an "exhibit" of the Admission Agreement. Appellants Br. at 9. However, the Admission Agreement never defines "exhibit" and nothing in the Arbitration Agreement indicates that it is intended to be the Admission Agreement's exhibit. In fact, "exhibit" appears just once in the Admission Agreement and does not appear at all in the Arbitration Agreement. Any ambiguity as to merger must be construed against Appellants since they were the agreements' exclusive drafters. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (citing Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc., 394 S.C. 116, 129, 713 S.E.2d 799, 805 n. 4 (Ct. App. 2011)). Accordingly, Thompson rejected Appellant's "exhibit" argument because the term is ambiguous and the ambiguity must be construed against Appellant. Thompson, at 41 (citing Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455; Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 94, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004)). Thompson went a step further and held that parsing out a possible definition of "exhibit" was unnecessary because "the parties intent for [the Arbitration Agreement] to stand by itself as an independent contract" could be ascertained by even a cursory reading of its first page. Thompson at 41 n. 1.

Appellant's merger argument suffers from other flaws. Klutts indicates that merger only applies to instruments executed "at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction." 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24. The circuit court properly ruled that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were not entered by the same parties for the same purpose. (R. p. 6-7). As the circuit court's order recognized, the two Agreements were not executed for the same purpose. (R. p. 7). The Admission Agreement purports to cover a bed hold policy, pharmacy selection, and other activities incident to nursing home services. In contrast, the Arbitration Agreement's stated purpose is to establish the

procedures “to submit for resolution by arbitration any disputes that may arise.” (R. p. 74). For all these reasons, the Act does not apply to the Arbitration Agreement, and the circuit court correctly rejected Appellant’s motion on this basis.

B. Ms. Butler was not a third-party beneficiary of any alleged agreement between Appellant and Ms. Robinson.

Appellant argue Respondents are bound to the Arbitration Agreement since Ms. Butler was a third-party beneficiary. However, this issue was not presented to the circuit court and is not preserved for review. Even if the issue had been properly preserved, it should be rejected because there is no valid Arbitration Agreement to which Ms. Butler could be a third-party beneficiary, Ms. Butler has made no efforts to enforce the Arbitration Agreement, and Ms. Butler has not otherwise assented to arbitration.

1. Appellant’s third-party beneficiary argument is not preserved for review.

Appellant did not assert a third-party beneficiary argument in its circuit court motion and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. See I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 421, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding that a “losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review”). Appellant’s motion to compel arbitration raised three arguments: (1) the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) and Respondent’s claims fell within the Agreement’s scope; (2) Ms. Robinson had authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on Ms. Butler’s behalf pursuant to the Act and the common law merger doctrine; and (3) Respondent should be estopped from refusing to arbitrate. (R. p. 49-59). During the circuit court hearing Appellant raised only the Act/merger (R. p. 147, lines 12-15) and estoppel (R. p. 148, line 1). Accordingly, the circuit court’s order was limited to these two issues. (R. pp. 1-9).

Appellant then filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC asking the circuit court to reconsider its ruling on the Act/merger (R. p. 118) and equitable estoppel (R. p. 121). Appellant's motion also asked the circuit court to rule on the FAA issue raised in its original motion but not addressed in the initial order. (R. p. 123). The circuit court denied Appellant's Rule 59 motion and reaffirmed its earlier ruling except for a footnote unrelated to this appeal. (R. p. 10).

There was no point during the circuit court proceedings when Appellant asked the circuit court to enforce arbitration against Respondents or Ms. Butler as a third-party beneficiary to a purported Arbitration Agreement between Appellant and Ms. Robinson. The third-party beneficiary doctrine was never even mentioned during the hearing. As a result, the circuit court's orders did not rule on the issue. This Court's role is "error correction," and Appellant's failure to raise the third-party beneficiary issue means there is no circuit court ruling Appellant can ask the Court to correct. See Jean Hoefer Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 12-13 (2d ed. 2002) ("The Court of Appeals is an error-correction court"). In sum, Appellant failed in its duty to raise a third-party beneficiary argument and to obtain a ruling from the circuit court before asking this Court to consider the matter. The issue has not been preserved and should not be considered in this appeal. See I'On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (describing how preservation rules are designed to prevent a litigant from "keeping an ace card his sleeve" to pull out for the first time on appeal).

2. There is no valid contract to which Ms. Butler or her estate can be a third-party beneficiary.

Appellant's third-party beneficiary argument must fail because there can be no third-party beneficiary in the absence of a valid contract. Thompson at 44 (citing Dickerson, 995 A.2d at 742). Since Ms. Butler did not sign the Arbitration Agreement and Ms. Robinson lacked authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on Ms. Butler's behalf, there was no contract to

arbitrate between Ms. Butler and Appellant. The evidence also shows there was no valid contract between Ms. Robinson and Appellant. Appellant did not intend for Ms. Robinson to be a party to the Arbitration Agreement in her individual capacity. Throughout the agreement, Ms. Robinson is identified only as "Patient/Resident Representative," never in her individual capacity. Ms. Robinson signed the agreement in a signature block labeled "Patient/Resident Representative." (R. p. 78).

The only language purporting to bind Ms. Robinson to the Arbitration Agreement in her individual capacity is on the final page in nondescript type below the signature block. Id. Appellant's intent to include Ms. Robinson only as Ms. Butler's representative is clear in Appellant's filings with the circuit court. In an affidavit attached to Appellants's Motion to Compel Arbitration, UPAC-Bamberg's administrator indicated that Ms. Robinson signed admission paperwork including the Arbitration Agreement only "**as the representative**" of Ms. Butler. (R. pp. 95-96, ¶ 5). (emphasis added). There is no contract, and there can be no third-party beneficiary.

3. Ms. Butler's care was not the "essential purpose" of the separate and independent Arbitration Agreement.

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